#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2006-KA-01695 COA

**LACORY HARRIS** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

#### **COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT:**

J. KEVIN RUNDLETT, MSBN
RUNDLETT LAW FIRM, PLLC
125 SOUTH CONGRESS STREET
SUITE 1200
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39201
TELEPHONE: (601) 353-8504
FACSIMILE: (601) 353-8506
E-MAIL: kevin@rundlettlawfirm.com

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2006-KA-01695 COA

**LACORY HARRIS** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

#### **ISSUE ONE:**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING THE PROSECUTION TO DISPLAY AN INJURED INFANT TO THE JURY WHEN THE CHILD'S PRESENCE WAS HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL AND NOT PROBATIVE ON ANY DISPUTED ELEMENT OF THE ALLEGED OFFENSE

#### **ISSUE TWO:**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL AND UNRELIABLE HEARSAY STATEMENTS INTO EVIDENCE AS AN "EXCITED UTTERANCE" WHEN THE STATEMENTS WERE NOT SPONTANEOUS, BUT WERE THE RESULT OF CONSCIOUS REFLECTION

#### **ISSUE THREE:**

TRIAL COUNSEL PREJUDICED THE DEFENDANT THROUGH INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE

- A. TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO PROCURE EXONERATING PHONE RECORDS;
- B. TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO OBJECT TO CONTINUOUS, PREJUDICIAL LEADING QUESTIONS DURING THE DIRECT EXAMINATION OF THEALLEGED VICTIM, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, THE COURT COMMITTED PLAIN ERROR BY ALLOWING THE SAME

#### **ISSUE FOUR:**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY REFUSING TO GRANT THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL WHEN THE VERDICT OF THE JURY WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

#### STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

LaCory Harris is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

#### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101 (Supp. 2001).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Shantanner Montgomery and Cory Harris spent the majority of the weekend of September 14th, 2001 together. On Sunday morning, September 16th, LaCory asked Ms. Montgomery to drive him to his brother's home. Montgomery agreed and placed her infant child, Kennedy Montgomery, in a car seat in the back of her vehicle and proceeded to drive Cory to his brother's. However, instead of driving the proper route, Montgomery proceeded north on I-220 at a high rate of speed in a direction away from LaCory's brother's home evidencing her anger. During the ride, LaCory borrowed Montgomery's cell phone and proceeded to call another female. When Montgomery realized who LaCory had called, she lunged for the phone and caused a serious accident. Both of Montgomery's wrists were fractured, and her child suffered a severed foot. None of the witnesses called by the State, other than Montgomery, saw what happened in the vehicle the moments before the accident. Montgomery was unable to face the damage she caused and fabricated a story that

LaCory Harris caused the accident by jerking the steering wheel.

There is no question that LaCory and Montgomery had a prior romantic relationship. (T.R. at 98). Montgomery was a jealous and reckless woman. During the relationship, LaCory dated at least two other women. (T.R. at 219). Montgomery suspected or knew of these other women and on at least one occasion saw LaCory in the car with another woman and carelessly chased him down the highway at over 100 miles per hour. (T.R. at 98,99, 222).

LaCory was indicted for two counts of aggravated assault with a deadly weapon for the injuries that Montgomery and her daughter sustained in the accident. The jury trial commenced on July 5<sup>th</sup>, 2005, in Hinds County. Before trial, the defense raised three motions *in limine*, of which two were denied. (T.R. at 2-8). The first and the last motion were denied. The first motion that was denied was an attempt to exclude the fact that LaCory fled the scene of the accident. (T.R. at 78). The next motion that was denied was an attempt to prevent the young child, Kennedy, from being present in the courtroom. (T.R. at 15).

The State's case included testimony from Montgomery that LaCory intentionally grabbed the steering wheel and several hearsay statements made by Montgomery at the scene of the accident. (T.R. at 126, 132, 137, 147). At the end of the State's case, the defense requested a motion for directed verdict. (T.R. at 173). The motion was denied.

Based on the testimony and the instructions given by the trial court, the jury

found LaCory guilty of two counts of aggravated assault. On September 8, 2005, LaCory was determined to be a habitual offender, based upon prior non violent offenses, and was sentenced to serve a term of twenty years. (R.E. at 7). The defense filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or, in the alternative, for a new trial. (R.E. at 13) The motion was denied. (R.E. at 20). LaCory appeals and respectfully requests that this Court reverse and render this case, discharging the Appellant from the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections or, in the alternative, reverse and remand this case to the Hinds County Circuit Court for a new trial on the merits of the case.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Having heard the evidence in this case, no reasonable juror should have found LaCory Harris guilty beyond reasonable doubt, and the jury's decision was based upon extreme prejudice and sympathy. The only evidence that LaCory Harris intentionally caused the accident at issue in this cause came from the lips of his jealous and angry ex-girlfriend, Shantanner Montgomery. The remainder of the State's witnesses were wrongfully allowed to testify to hearing Montgomery incriminate LaCory at the scene of the accident. Witness Sherry Green saw the accident occur but could not testify that LaCory jerked the steering wheel. Witnesses Missy Hayes, Jeffrey Stallworth, Tonya Chambers, and Jackie Watson arrived after the accident occurred. None of them saw what happened in the vehicle prior to the accident. The aforementioned hearsay statements, coupled with wrongfully allowed

testimony of LaCory leaving the scene, a gruesome, wrongfully allowed view of young Kennedy Montgomery's amputated leg; evidence of LaCory's extensive criminal history, and defense counsel's errors so inflamed the prejudice of the jury that the jury ignored the court's instructions.

Defense counsel was ineffective during trial and caused serious prejudice to LaCory Harris. First, counsel failed to obtain phone records that would have proven the heart of the defense and contradicted Montgomery's version of the story. Second, counsel allowed the prosecution to ask over 50 harmful, leading questions of Montgomery during her direct examination without objection. (R.E. at 28-55) (T.R. at 96-123)

Lastly, the Appellant urges this Court that the trial court erred by refusing to grant the Appellant's motion for a new trial because the jury's verdict was clearly against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. As indicated previously, the jury's verdict was based upon the severity of the child's injury, the inadmissable hearsay testimony of the bystanders, and the Appellant's criminal history, instead of being based upon the plausibility of the facts surrounding the car accident. This Honorable Court should reverse and render this case, discharging the Appellant from the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections or, in the alternative, reverse and remand this case to the Hinds County Circuit Court for a new trial on the merits of the case.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### **ISSUE ONE:**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING THE PROSECUTION TO DISPLAY AN INJURED INFANT TO THE JURY WHEN THE CHILD'S PRESENCE WAS HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL AND WAS NOT PROBATIVE ON ANY DISPUTED ELEMENT OF THE OFFENSE

The child in this case was so severely injured that her leg was amputated. The prosecution saw this as an opportunity to use this tragic injury to prejudice the jury against LaCory Harris from the beginning of the trial. The trial court erred in allowing the prosecution, over a timely objection and motion by the defense, to display the injured infant to the jury during the entire trial. (R.E.. at 21,25) (T.R at 15). Appellant submits that the injured infant should have been excluded under *Mississippi Rule of Evidence 403*, which states that evidence is to be excluded when the probative value of the evidence is substantially less than the prejudicial effect. *Miss. R. Evid., Rule 403*. On appellate review, the Court must determine if the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the prejudicial evidence.

Rule 403 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence is the ultimate filter through which all otherwise admissible evidence must pass. *Hoops v. State*, 681 So. 2d 521 (Miss. 1996). Unfair prejudice does not mean harmful to a party's case, but rather evidence having a tendency to lead a jury to base a decision on an improper basis or to influence the outcome of the trial by improper means. *Fed. R. Evid.*, *Rule 403*, *advisory committee's note*. Unfairly prejudicial evidence is evidence that is more

likely to arouse an emotional response than a rational decision by the jury, or otherwise causes the jury to base its decision on something other than the established propositions of the case. *United States v. Beechum*, 585 F. 2d 898 (5th Cir. 1978).

In Foster v. State,, the Mississippi Supreme Court held:

[A] trial court presented with a Rule 403 objection to relevant evidence must engage in a balancing process. The more probative the evidence is, the less likely it is that the potential prejudice will substantially outweigh the probative value. On the other hand, the less probative value the evidence has, the less significant the potential prejudice has to be to justify exclusion.

Foster v. State, 508 So. 2d 1111, 1117 (Miss. 1987) (quoting, Moore v. State, 806 So. 2d 308 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001)). The overriding consideration is whether the evidence is more likely to lead a jury to focus on relevant, objective facts established by the prosecution or other, impermissible grounds.

In this case, there is no question that a severely disabled and disfigured child is highly emotional. Accordingly, the question is whether displaying an injured infant child to a jury is more likely to lead the jury to base a judgement on the evidence presented by the prosecution or more likely to cause them to convict solely out of sympathy. Appellant contends that it is more likely to evoke sympathy.

The Mississippi Appellate Courts have not considered the specific issue of an injured child having an unfairly prejudicial impact on a jury, but the Mississippi Supreme Court has considered the impact of photographs of murder victims many times. *Billiot v. State*, 454 So. 2d 445, 459-60 (Miss. 1984); *Cabello v. State*, 471 So. 2d 332, 341 (Miss. 1985); *McNeal v. State*, 551 So. 2d 151 (Miss. 1989). The

prejudicial effect of photographs of a gruesome murder victim is comparable to that created by an injured infant's severed leg. Trial courts should exclude photographs which are gruesome or inflammatory and lack an evidentiary purpose. *Id.* For example, our Supreme Court has stated that photographs of a murder victim "should not ordinarily be admitted into evidence where the killing is not contradicted." *Shearer v. State*, 423 So. 2d 824, 827 (Miss. 1982); *Sharp v. State*, 446 So. 2d 1008, 1009 (Miss. 1984). The Supreme Court also frequently looks for efforts to minimize the prejudicial effect of the evidence, such as using black and white photos. *Id.* 

Other jurisdictions have reached similar conclusions. In *State v. Williamson*, a Tennessee criminal appellate court considered the prejudicial effect of showing black and white photos of an injured child to a jury. *State v. Williamson*, 919 S.W. 2d 69 (1995). Noting that the pictures were highly inflammatory, the court concluded they were not unfairly prejudicial because there was only one picture, the child's eyes were closed, the prosecution did not seek to maximize the emotional impact of the picture, and the defense did not offer to stipulate the injuries. *Williamson*, 919 S.W. 2d at 69 (1995). Due to the defense not agreeing to stipulate to the injuries, the picture became an essential element to the case. *Id*.

In the case before this Court, the prosecution did not attempt to minimize the impact of the injured child, but rather deliberately sought to inflame the jury by positioning the infant directly in front of the jury not only on the day when her injuries were presented as evidence, but every other day of the trial as well. Furthermore, the

defense offered to stipulate the injuries to the child but the prosecution refused, again presumably seeking to maximize the unfair prejudicial effect of the injured child. The child's injury was prominently displayed to the jury during the entire trial under the guise of her exercising her right to see the outcome of the trial as a victim. However disingenuous it may seem that an 18 month old baby had an interest in seeing the trial, sitting her in the front row was calculated to draw attention to a crying baby and her terrible injuries. The injuries could have been stipulated, the injuries could have been established from the medical records, or the injuries could have been established by testimony on one day. Any or all of these would have been appropriate. However, displaying the child for the entire trial was not. Because the injuries to the alleged victim were not disputed and because the prosecution clearly sought to maximize the impermissible prejudice resulting from the child's injuries, LaCory Harris was unable to receive a fair trial and the lower court erred in admitting this evidence. Accordingly, this Court should reverse and render this case, discharging the Appellant from the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections or, in the alternative, reverse and remand this case to the Hinds County Circuit Court for a new trial on the merits of the case.

#### **ISSUE TWO:**

# THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL AND UNRELIABLE HEARSAY STATEMENTS INTO EVIDENCE AS AN "EXCITED UTTERANCE" WHEN THE STATEMENTS WERE NOT SPONTANEOUS, BUT WERE THE RESULT OF CONSCIOUS REFLECTION

The bias and prejudice towards the Appellant was present throughout the trial and originated at the scene of the car accident. This unjust bias and prejudice ultimately resulted in the Appellant receiving an unfair trial. The only witness called by the State who testified that LaCory committed a crime was Montgomery. The remainder of the State's witnesses were wrongfully allowed to testify as to hearing Ms. Montgomery incriminate LaCory at the scene of the accident. Witness Sherry Green saw the accident occur but could not testify that LaCory jerked the steering wheel. Witnesses Missy Hayes, Jeffrey Stallworth, Tonya Chambers, and Jackie Watson arrived after the accident occurred. None of them saw what happened in the vehicle prior to the accident. After the accident, Montgomery told these bystanders that the Appellant grabbed the steering wheel causing her to lose control of the car. At trial, during the bystanders' testimony, the court properly ruled that the statements were hearsay. (T.R. at 126, 132, 135). However, the trial court abused its discretion by allowing the hearsay statements into evidence as an "excited utterance." Id. When Montgomery made the statements, she was no longer under the stress of the car accident, but was preoccupied with escaping responsibility for her actions. The fact that LaCory left the scene of the accident and the severity of Montgomery's daughter's injuries were "intervening matters" which took this excited utterance out of the exception and made it inadmissible hearsay. The inadmissable hearsay improperly bolstered Montgomery's testimony and credibility with the jury, while at the same time, causing unfair prejudice to and bias against the Appellant.

## A. Montgomery's Statements to the Bystanders at the Scene of the Car Accident Were Hearsay Statements

Rule 801(c) of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence defines hearsay as "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." MRE 801(c). "Hearsay is not admissible, except as provided by law." Hercules Inc. v Walters, 434 So.2d 773, 726-27 (Miss. 1983). The rationale for the exclusion of hearsay evidence is that it is generally unreliable and untrustworthy. *Id*. The bystanders testimony about Montgomery's statement at the scene of the accident was correctly identified by the trial court as hearsay. (T.R. at 126, 132, 135). The bystanders testimony included an out-of-court statement made by Montgomery at the scene of the accident that was offered to prove that the Appellant grabbed the steering wheel. *Id*. The bystanders did not have any reason or motive to lie about what Montgomery said at the scene of the accident, however, they did not personally witness what she stated happened. e Montgomery absolutely had a reason to fabricate such a self-serving statement. Shortly after the accident, even before she had a chance to get out of the car, Montgomery quickly realized that as a result of her careless conduct, her daughter had suffered severe injuries in the accident. (T.R. at 101). In an attempt to absolve herself of the life-long shame and guilt of causing her daughter's trauma, she quickly invented a story blaming the Appellant for the accident. Montgomery's self-serving statements to the bystanders illustrate why out-of-court statements are generally regarded as untrustworthy, unreliable, and, therefore, inadmissible evidence.

## B. The Bystanders' Hearsay Statements Should not Have Been Admitted Through the "Excited Utterance" Exception

Mississippi Rules of Evidence provides exceptions for the exclusion of hearsay statements which are reliable and trustworthy. *Miss. R. Evid.* 803. An excited utterance is one of the specific categories of hearsay statements that can be considered trustworthy under the proper circumstances, thus they may be admissible. *Miss. R. Evid.* 803(2). An excited utterance is a statement "that relates to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition." *Id.* The rationale for the excited utterance exception is that certain "circumstances may create such an excited condition that the capacity for reflection is temporarily impeded and that statements uttered in that condition are thus free of conscious fabrication." *Cox v. State*, 849 So. 2d 1257, 1269 (Miss. 2003).

When determining whether a statement is an excited utterance, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held that spontaneity is the "essential ingredient" into the inquiry.

\*Davis v. State\*, 611 So. 2d 906, 913-14 (Miss. 1992) (quoting Miss. R. Evid. 803(2), Official Comment). For a statement to be spontaneous, "it is important there has been

no intervening matter to eliminate the [declarant's] state of excitement and call into question the reliability of the utterance." *Berry v. State*, 611 So. 2d 924, 926 (Miss. 1992). There is no precise rule regarding the length of time that must exist between the exited event and the declarant's statement. *Cox*, 849 So. 2d at 1269. The most important issue is the duration of the excited state. *Id.* Some people will stay in a state of excitement longer than others, thus the duration of the excited state will vary greatly depending on the circumstances of each case. *Id.* 

In *Owens v. State*, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that the declarant's statement to the police that he been forced to jump out of a moving car by the appellant an hour after the event was not admissible as an excited utterance. *Owens v. State*, 716 So. 2d 534, 535 (Miss. 1998). The appellate court further held that the statements were not truly spontaneous, but were the result of conscious reflection. *Id.* at 536. At the trial of Owens, a police officer testified regarding the declarant's emotional state. *Id.* The officer described the declarant's demeanor as "upset", "angry", "pissed off", "very mad", and "ready to talk". *Id.* The Court found that the declarant's capacity for reflection was not impeded by the stress of the event. *Id.* Instead, the declarant was angry and upset about being forced out of a moving car. *Id.* Consequently, the appellate court found that the declarant's statement regarding the alleged event was not spontaneous and therefore, not free from the dangers of conscious fabrication and self-interest. *Id.* 

In contrast to *Owens*, the appellate court, in *Carter v. State* held that a declarant's statement, that his sister had just shot his wife, which was made during a 911 call and then to a police officer only moments later was admissible hearsay under the excited utterance exception. *Carter v. State*, 722 So. 2d 1258, 1260, 1261 (Miss. 1998). The court held that the key question was whether "the [declarant] was still in an excited state when he made the statements." *Id.* at 1261. Unlike in *Owens*, the court held that the declarant in *Carter*, made the statement during the 911 call and then to the first police officer on the scene. *Id.* Moreover, the police officer testified that the declarant was still in an excited state. *Id.* Because of the short of amount time between the events and the statement and the absence of a "intervening matter" to impede the declarant's state of excitement, the Court held that the "statement was spontaneous enough to fall under the excited utterance exception." *Id.* 

The case at bar is more analogous to *Owens*, rather than *Carter*. Montgomery's vehicle had time to come to a rest, Montgomery had time to get up and move around. The witnesses who arrived after the accident had time to stop their respective vehicles, remove their seat belts, exit their vehicles, and make their way down the overpass to Montgomery's location. Montgomery's capacity for reflection was not impeded by the stress of the car accident. Instead, she was angry and upset at the Appellant for calling another woman on her phone. (T. R. at 227). For Montgomery's statement to the bystanders to be completely spontaneous, she had to

be more than just "upset" and "angry," and dominated by the stress of the event in such a fashion to remove all possibility of reflection. *Owens*, 722 So. 2d at 1261. Phrased more precisely, "the circumstances must show that it was the event speaking through the person and not the person speaking through the event." *First S.W. Lloyds Ins. Co. v. MacDowell*, 769 S.W. 2d 954, 959 (Tex App. 1989).

The circumstances in the instant case do not conclusively show that the event was speaking through Montgomery, instead of her speaking through the event. It is undisputed that there was a short lapse of time between the event and the statements. (T.R. at 126, 132, 135). However, the appellate court precisely held in *Carter* that the real issue is the declarant's *state of mind* when she made the statement to the bystanders. *Carter*, 722 So. 2d at 1260. According to the court's reasoning, the question in the instant case, becomes whether Montgomery was "smart" enough, in the short period of time from the accident and the hearsay statement, to concoct a self-serving story absolving her self of responsibility and blame the Appellant for her actions. Montgomery was capable of concocting such a self-serving story and that is exactly what she did. She was angry that Cory had made a phone call to another woman in her presence, she was angry that Cory left the scene, and she was guilt ridden about causing the accident and injuries to her child.

Montgomery testified that the **first** thing she noticed after the accident was the Appellant leaving the scene. (T.R. at 101). Next, she testified that she realized that

her daughter's leg had been severed. (T.R. at 101). These two observations were the two "intervening matters" that interrupted Montgomery's state of excitement regarding the car accident. Like the declarant in *Owens*, Montgomery's statements regarding the car accident were not spontaneous, but rather the result of conscious fabrication and self-interest. Moreover, the statements are patently unreliable and decisively untrustworthy. As such, the trial court should have held that the hearsay statements were not admissible according to the excited utterance exception.

## C. The Trial Judge Abused His Discretion by Admitting the Inadmissible Hearsay Statements That Ultimately Resulted in Prejudice to the Appellant

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