IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

LACORY HARRIS

VS.

FILED

APPELLANT

JUN 2 2 2007

SUPREME COURT CLERK

NO. 2006-KA-1695-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL **POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

STATEMENT OF FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT4
Issue I.
DEMONSTRATIVE EVIDENCE OF INJURY IS
ALLOWABLE AND ADMISSIBLE
Issue II.
THE STATEMENT WERE ADMISSIBLE
AS EXCITED UTTERANCES OR PRESENCE
SENSE IMPRESSIONS.6
Issue III.
DEFENDANT HAD TWO CONSTITUTIONALLY
EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL 7
Issue IV.
THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DENYING
POST-TRIAL MOTIONS BASED ON THE EVIDENCE.
THERE WAS AMPLE, CREDIBLE,
CORROBORATED, ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE TO
SUPPORT BOTH CONVICTIONS. NO DOUBT9
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

STATE CASES

Amiker v. Drugs For Less, Inc., 796 So.2d 942, 947(Miss.2000) 9
Cleveland v. State, 801 So.2d 812 (Miss.App. 2001)
Fair v. State, 950 So.2d 1108 (Miss.App. 2007)
Herring v. State, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997)
Jefferson v. State, 818 So.2d 1099, 1104 (Miss.2002)
Murrell v. State, 655 So.2d 881, 884-85 (Miss.1995)
Ramsey v. State, 2006 WL 2947847 (Miss.App. 2006)
Shaw v. State, 915 So.2d 442, 445 (Miss.2005)
Spicer v. State, 921 So.2d 292, 311(Miss.2006)
Taggart v. State, 2007 WL 1631225 (Miss. 2007)
Trapp v. Cayson, 471 So.2d 375, 382 (Miss. 1985)
Wheeler v. State, 943 So.2d 106 (Miss.App. 2006)
White v. State, 2007 WL 1675089 (Miss.App. 2007)
STATE STATUTES
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-43-21 5
Miss. Code Ann. §§ 99-19-81 & 97-3-7
Mississippi Constitution Sec 26A(1)

STATE RULES

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

LACORY HARRIS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2006-KA-1695-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The grand jury of Hinds County, First Judicial District, did indict defendant, Lacory Harris, with two counts of aggravated assault as an habitual offender in violation of *Miss*. *Code Ann.* §§ 99-19-81 & 97-3-7. (Indictment & amendment, c.p. 5, 11-13). After a trial by jury, Judge Winston L. Kidd presiding, the jury found defendant guilty on both counts beyond a reasonable doubt. (Jury verdicts, c.p.80-81). The trial court sentenced defendant to twenty years on each count concurrent to each other and consecutive to one of his many previous felony convictions.

After denial of post-trial motions and judicial leave to file out-of-time appeal same was duly noticed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case is about one young lady, Shantanner Montgomery, attempting to break up with the defendant, Lacory Harris.

On September the 14th of 2001, she made it painfully clear to the defendant that she no longer wanted to be with him. They had agreed on that sometime before that but he still called her on September 14th while she was at work at Ryan's and told her that I'm going to kill you. She paid him no mind. She was through with him. He was out of her life.

On the morning of September 16th, 2001, a Sunday morning, the defendant showed up at her house. She said, "How did you get here?" "Somebody dropped me off." And she said, "Well, look, I'm going to take you home. I don't want you here." So she gets her 15-month-old child Kennedy and puts her in the back seat of the car and they get in the car and she's taking him home. They're on 220 northbound.

According to Ms. Montgomery, he was playing with the child in the back seat playing patty-cake (it's not his child). And all of a sudden he stops and turns to her and he says: "I'm going to hurt you in the worst way. I'm going to kill you."

At that time he grabbed the steering wheel and he jerks it and causes the car to flipover five or six times down an embankment. Kennedy Montgomery, the 15-month-old child, was thrown from the car and one of her legs was severed. Her right foot was crushed and also severed. The doctors were able to reattach the foot but the leg was lost. Ms. Montgomery had both of her arms broken.

After the car stopped rolling down the embankment, the defendant Lacory Harris jumps out of the car and runs through the woods not to be seen again. He didn't call 911. He didn't try to help anybody. He ran and left.

The evidence will show that several concerned citizens stopped that saw the accident. Sherry Green was following the vehicle when the accident happened and she will testify that she saw the car jerk and roll down the embankment and that's what led to the wreck, the jerking of the car.

She'll say that she stopped and she just blessed that she was a licensed practical nurse. She saw the baby and she saw the baby losing blood and got a scarf from another bystander and applied a tourniquet to stop the bleeding.

[Edited from Prosecution's opening statement, tr. 81, et seq.]

The jury heard the testimony and saw the evidence of defendant's actions and found him guilty of both counts of aggravated assault.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I.

DEMONSTRATIVE EVIDENCE OF INJURY IS ALLOWABLE AND ADMISSIBLE.

Issue II.

THE STATEMENT WERE ADMISSIBLE AS EXCITED UTTERANCES OR PRESENCE SENSE IMPRESSIONS.

Issue III.

DEFENDANT HAD TWO CONSTITUTIONALLY EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Issue IV.

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DENYING POST-TRIAL MOTIONS BASED ON THE EVIDENCE. THERE WAS AMPLE, CREDIBLE, CORROBORATED, ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT BOTH CONVICTIONS. NO DOUBT.

ARGUMENT

Issue I.

DEMONSTRATIVE EVIDENCE OF INJURY IS ALLOWABLE AND ADMISSIBLE.

Appellate counsel asserts it was error to allow the State to show the injuries the girl suffered – (the child was the subject of one of the counts of aggravated assault). The estandard of review for such an evidentiary question, is:

¶ 17. As with all evidentiary issues, our standard for reviewing a trial judge's admission or exclusion of evidence is one of abuse of discretion. Shaw v. State, 915 So.2d 442, 445 (Miss.2005). "A trial judge enjoys a great deal of discretion as to the relevancy and admissibility of evidence. Unless the judge abuses this discretion so as to be prejudicial to the accused, the Court will not reverse this ruling." Id. at 445 (quoting Jefferson v. State, 818 So.2d 1099, 1104 (Miss.2002)).

Taggart v. State, 2007 WL 1631225 (Miss. 2007).

Further, with regard to demonstrative evidence or injury in cases where such proof is required the review courts have held:

The admission or exclusion of evidence at trial is addressed to the sound discretion of the judge.... There is no contention that the pictures do not accurately reflect Holmes and his injuries at the time the photographs were taken. There can be no doubt but that they prejudiced the defendant's case in the sense that they were detrimental, but they showed a condition which Holmes was entitled to either describe to the jury in words or by pictures, or a combination of the two. This demonstrative evidence aided the jury in its evaluation of the injuries and pain suffered. It cannot be said that they were introduced in evidence for the sole purpose of inflaming the minds of the jury; they served the proper purpose of bringing vividly to the jurors the details of tremendous injuries. The pictures were certainly admissible as a matter of discretion by the trial judge, if not as a matter of right. We find no error.

Trapp v. Cayson, 471 So.2d 375, 382 (Miss. 1985).

Without belaboring the point the State is entitled, - no, the State is required to offer evidence of serious bodily injury.

¶ 15. . . . if the indictment alleges an actual bodily injury to the victim rather than a mere attempt to do bodily injury, there must be some proof that the victim suffered some actual injury, or at least some physical pain as a result of the attack. *Murrell v. State*, 655 So.2d 881, 884-85 (Miss.1995).

Cleveland v. State, 801 So.2d 812 (Miss.App. 2001).

The State was required to offer proof of injury. What better method than to have the victim present. Further, being a victim the child had the constitutional and statutory right to be present. Mississippi Constitution Sec 26A(1) & Miss. Code Ann. § 99-43-21. Additionally, the mother of the victim could assert the rights on behalf of her child, or, the prosecutor had the statutory authority to have the victim present.

This issue is without merit and no relief should be granted.

Issue II.

THE STATEMENT WERE ADMISSIBLE AS EXCITED UTTERANCES OR PRESENCE SENSE IMPRESSIONS.

First the State would look at the time frame when one of the victim's was making the statements. The defendant had fled the scene and DID NOT call for help or assistance. Moreover, defendant didn't even offer his own assistance... be that as it may. In summary the State will not even respond to the ludicrous assertion of counsel that one of the victims as she law battered and broken with her child's leg severed and her baby bleeding had time to calmly assess her life and fabricate a story. Ridiculous. SHE WAS HYSTERICAL. As a professional nurse testified, twice. Tr. 126, 127.

It was, without doubt an excited utterance.

¶ 8. Mississippi Rules of Evidence Rule 803 provides that certain out-of-court statements will not be excluded as hearsay regardless of whether the declarant is available to testify. The present sense impression exception provides that an out-of-court statement "describing or explaining an event or condition made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition or immediately thereafter" will not be excluded by the hearsay rule. M.R.E. 803(1). The excited utterance exception provides that an out-of-court statement "relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition" will also not be excluded by the hearsay rule. M.R.E. 803(2).

Wheeler v. State, 943 So.2d 106 (Miss.App. 2006).

The judge was correctly in his ruling pre-trial and at trial based upon the testimony.

No error here.

Issue III.

DEFENDANT HAD TWO CONSTITUTIONALLY EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Counsel for defendant cites the appropriate standard and law regarding ineffective assistance of counsel.

A look to the trial record shows defendant represented by two counsel, that by law are presumptively Constitutionally effective.

Appellate counsel would now try and assert otherwise, to wit:

Sub-issue A: Both Trial Counsel failed to subpoena phone records. The decision of trial counsel on witnesses to call or evidence to submit or subpoenas to issues is trial strategy and *presumed* reasonable. *Fair v. State*, 950 So.2d 1108 (¶ 8) (Miss.App. 2007). It is worth noting that, even now, counsel assumes the phone records would show there was a phone call. Or, they would show there was no phone call and defendant was a liar. Hmmmm, let's see ... get the records that might prove our client's story was fabricated and a he's a liar and to discover same to the State... Oh, yeah it was strategy,... and it was effective.

Next, failure to object to leading questions. Such is part of trial strategy. Plus, just for edification of appellate counsel, most of the questions claimed as 'leading' were not. *Ramsey* v. *State*, 2006 WL 2947847 (Miss.App. 2006). Oh, and to claim defendant had a 'tainted past'& 'tainted history' ... well, come on, read his testimony... he cleared that up for the jury real well. That is to say, there was absolutely no prejudice.

Defendant has not met either prong of Strickland. Consequently, no relief is warranted

on this allegation of error.

Issue IV.

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DENYING POST-TRIAL MOTIONS BASED ON THE EVIDENCE. THERE WAS AMPLE, CREDIBLE, CORROBORATED, ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT BOTH CONVICTIONS. NO DOUBT.

- ¶ 8. It is well settled that the jury is the sole arbiter for matters involving the weight and credibility to be accorded the evidence. Spicer v. State, 921 So.2d 292, 311(¶ 38) (Miss.2006). We will reverse only where, with respect to one or more of the elements of the offense charged, the evidence so considered is such that "reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty." Id.
- ¶ 9. When reviewing a denial of a motion for a new trial based on an objection to the weight of the evidence, we will only disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. Herring v. State, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997). We have stated that, on a motion for a new trial, the power to grant a new trial should be invoked only in exceptional cases in which the evidence preponderates heavily against the verdict. Amiker v. Drugs For Less, Inc., 796 So.2d 942, 947(¶ 18) (Miss.2000). The evidence should be weighed in the light most favorable to the verdict. Herring, 691 So.2d at 957.

White v. State, 2007 WL 1675089 (Miss.App. 2007).

The transcript is replete with consistent testimony, all legally admissible. Every element of both offenses was proved. The jury heard and the jury decided. Remembering they also heard his testimony. He got all the evidence he wanted before the jury – and more.

He's guilty and no relief should be granted on this allegation of error.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the arguments presented herein as supported by the record on appeal the State would ask this reviewing court to affirm the jury verdicts and sentences of the trial court.